Regulations and guidelines 4/2018

Management of credit risk by supervised entities in the financial sector

J. No FIVA 13/01.00/2017 **Issued** 5.3.2018

Valid from 1.7.2019

Further information from Banking Supervision/Banking Regulation and Risk Areas

FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY AUTHORITY tel. +358 9 183 51 firstname.surname@fiva.fi fin-fsa.fi



Issued Valid from 5.3.2018 1.7.2019 until further notice



2 (23)

Legal nature of regulations and guidelines

Regulations

Financial Supervisory Authority (FIN-FSA) regulations are presented under the heading 'Regulation' in FIN-FSA's regulations and guidelines. FIN-FSA regulations are binding legal requirements that must be complied with.

The FIN-FSA issues regulations only by virtue of and within the limits of legal provisions that entitle it to do so.

Guidelines

FIN-FSA interpretations of the contents of laws and other binding provisions are presented under the heading 'Guideline' in the FIN-FSA's regulations and guidelines.

Also recommendations and other operating guidelines that are not binding are presented under this heading, as are the FIN-FSA's recommendations on compliance with international guidelines and recommendations.

The formulation of the guideline shows when it constitutes an interpretation and when it constitutes a recommendation or other operating guideline. A more detailed description of the formulation of guidelines and the legal nature of regulations and guidelines is provided on the FIN-FSA website.

fin-fsa.fi > Regulation > Legal framework of FIN-FSA regulations and guidelines



Issued 5.3.2018 Valid from

1.7.2019 until further notice

Contents

1	Scope of	application and definitions	5	
	1.1	Scope of application	5	
	1.2	Definitions	5	
2	Legal frai	mework and international recommendations	6	
	2.1	Legal framework	6	
	2.2	European Union Regulations	6	
	2.3	European Union Directives	6	
	2.4	The FIN-FSA's authority to issue regulations	7	
	2.5	International recommendations	7	
3	Objective	9S	9	
4	Key princ	Key principles of credit risk management10		
	4.1	Credit risk strategy and credit risk management procedures	10	
	4.2	Organisation and responsibilities	10	
	4.3	Credit granting principles and credit granting process	12	
	4.3.1	Credit analysis	12	
	4.3.2	Collateral management	15	
	4.3.3	Credit granting process	16	
	4.4	Measurement of credit risk and the management information systems	18	
	4.5	Mitigation of credit risk	19	
	4.6	Ongoing monitoring of credit risks	19	
	4.6.1	Credit management	19	
	4.6.2	Customer monitoring	20	



Regulations	and guidelin	es 4/2018		
Issued Valid from	5.3.2 1.7.2	018 019 until further notice	ESEN	
			4 (23)	
	4.6.3	Stress testing		





5 (23)

1 Scope of application and definitions

1.1 Scope of application

These regulations and guidelines are applicable to the following supervised entities and foreign supervised entities as referred to in the Act on the Financial Supervisory Authority:

- credit institutions
- investment firms
- branches in Finland of foreign credit institutions authorised in non-EEA countries (branch offices of third-country credit institutions)
- branches in Finland of foreign investment firms pursuing and providing investment services authorised in non-EEA countries (branch offices of third-country investment firms)
- central institutions of amalgamations of deposit banks
- holding companies of credit institutions and abovementioned investment firms providing investment services
- holding companies of conglomerates as referred to in the Act on the Supervision of Financial and Insurance Conglomerates.

1.2 Definitions

For the purposes of these regulations and guidelines, the following definitions apply:

- (1) Supervised entity refers to all supervised entities and foreign supervised entities as referred to in the Act on the Financial Supervisory Authority (the FIN-FSA Act) falling within the scope of section 1.1 of these regulations and guidelines.
- (2) Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty of a financial instrument is unable to fulfil its obligations and therefore causes a financial loss to the other party. Credits are the main source of credit risk, but credit risk (counterparty risk) may also be inherent in bonds, short-term debt securities and derivatives, and in off balance-sheet commitments, such as unused credit lines or limits, guarantees and letters of credit. Country risk and settlement risk are also regarded as credit risks.
- (3) Senior management refers to the supervised entity's board of directors. If the supervised entity has a supervisory board, the supervisory board and the board of directors together constitute the senior management of the supervised entity as referred to herein.
- (4) *Executive management* refers here to the Chief Executive Officer and members of a management group appointed to support the CEO. Executive management also comprises persons who operate directly under the CEO and effectively manage the business of the supervised entity in addition to the CEO.





2 Legal framework and international recommendations

2.1 Legal framework

The following legal provisions, as amended, relate to the matters addressed in these regulations and guidelines:

- Credit Institutions Act (610/2014)
- Investment Services Act (747/2012)
- Act on Amalgamation of Deposit Banks (599/2010)
- Act on the Supervision of Financial and Insurance Conglomerates (699/2004)
- Act on Mortgage Credit Bank Operations (688/2010)
- Consumer Protection Act (38/1978)
- **Decree of the Council of State** on the professional requirements for lenders and credit intermediaries in consumer loans related to housing (1031/2016)
- Act on Intermediaries of Consumer Credit Relating to Residential Property (852/2016)

2.2 European Union Regulations

The following directly applicable European Union Regulations are related to the matters addressed in these regulations and guidelines:

- Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (hereinafter 'the EU CRR')
- Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/227 amending Implementing Regulation (EU) No 680/2014 laying down implementing technical standards with regard to supervisory reporting of institutions according to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council
- Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 establishing a European Supervisory Authority (EBA), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/78/EC

2.3 European Union Directives

The following European Union Directives are related to the matters addressed in these regulations and guidelines

 Directive 2013/36/EU (32013L0036) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC



Valid from

5.3.2018 1.7.2019 until further notice



7 (23)

- Directive 2014/17/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 February 2014 on credit agreements for consumers relating to residential immovable property and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and 2013/36/EU and Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 concerning the establishment of a European Supervisory Authority
- Directive 2006/73/EC (32006L0073) of the European Commission implementing Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards organisational requirements and operating conditions for investment firms and defined terms for the purposes of that Directive

2.4 The FIN-FSA's authority to issue regulations

The FIN-FSA's authority to issue binding regulations is based on the following legal provisions:

- chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act
- chapter 6, section 2 of the Investment Services Act
- section 19, subsection 6 of the Amalgamations Act
- section 16, subsection 3 of the FiCo Act
- chapter 3, section 11, subsection 1 of the Act on Mortgage Banking Operations

2.5 International recommendations

In drafting these regulations and guidelines, consideration has been given to the following guidelines by the EBA and by its predecessor, the Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS), which were kept in force as such by the EBA, as well as the following guidance by the European Central Bank (ECB):

- CEBS Guidelines on Stress Testing (GL32, 26 August 2010)
- EBA Guidelines on creditworthiness assessment (EBA/GL/2015/11)
- EBA Guidelines on arrears and foreclosure (EBA/GL/2015/12)
- EBA Guidelines on credit institutions' credit risk management practices and accounting for expected credit losses (EBA/GL/2017/06)
- EBA Guidelines on Internal Governance under Directive 2013/36/EU (EBA/GL/2017/11)
- EBA Guidelines on Connected Clients under Article 4(1)(39) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (EBA/GL/2017/15)
- EBA Guidelines on management of non-performing and forborne exposures, (EBA/GL/2018/06) (Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)
- CEBS Guidelines on the Implementation of the revised large exposures regime (11 December 2009)
- ECB Guidance to banks on non-performing loans, March 2017 and the addendum to the Guidance
- ECB Guidance on leveraged transactions (May 2017)



Issued Valid from 5.3.2018 1.7.2019 until further notice



8 (23)

Interpretations of regulation published by the EBA are available at <u>www.eba.europa.eu/single-rule-book-qa</u> (Single Rule Book Q & A).





3 Objectives

(1) The organisation of credit risk management and control as part of the internal control function constitutes a key task for the supervised entity's business management. Credit risk management and control is of crucial importance in ensuring that the supervised entity holds adequate capital against the risks involved in the business and the potential losses on incurred risks.

(2) The objective of these regulations and guidelines on the management of credit risk is to:

- Ensure that supervised entities and entities belonging to the same consolidation group have adequate and effective functions in place, commensurate with the nature and scope of their activities, to identify, measure, mitigate, monitor and control market risk as part of their overall business risk management and control.
- Ensure that supervised entities and entities belonging to the same consolidation group do not take on such credit risks that may jeopardise their profitability or capital adequacy, in the course of their lending or investment activities.
- Inform supervised entities of guidelines and recommendations issued by EBA and the ECB, which should be taken into account by supervised entities in their activities.





10 (23)

4 Key principles of credit risk management

4.1 Credit risk strategy and credit risk management procedures

- (1) In accordance with chapter 9, section 1 of the Credit Institutions Act, a credit institution may not, in the course of its activities, incur a risk that fundamentally endangers its solvency or the liquidity. To ensure this, the credit institution shall have sound, comprehensive and efficient strategies and procedures to assess, monitor and maintain the amount, nature and allocation of its internal capital.
- (2) In accordance with chapter 9, section 3 of the Credit Institutions Act, the board of directors of a credit institution shall approve the strategies and procedures concerning the risks relating to the credit institution and its activity as well as regularly monitor them. All material risks, risk management guidelines and any changes thereto shall be reported to the board of directors.

GUIDELINE (paragraph 3)

- (3) The FIN-FSA recommends that the credit risk strategy define at least the following matters:
 - target markets
 - preferred customer profile in granting credit and its allocation of credit based on exposure type, industry or economic sector, geographical location, currency and maturity
 - risk-taking level based on its risk-bearing capacity and principles for diversification of and hedging against risks
 - quality, yield and growth targets for the credit portfolio.

4.2 Organisation and responsibilities

- (4) In accordance with chapter 9, section 2 of the Credit Institutions Act, a credit institution shall have efficient and reliable administrative and control systems, described in writing, for the recognition, management, limiting, monitoring and reporting of current and future risks concerning the credit institution and its activities. These include a clear organisational structure, effective risk management reporting procedures, sound internal control, administration and accounting procedures as well as principles and procedures concerning remuneration policies which are consistent with and conducive to sound and efficient risk management.
- (5) In accordance with chapter 9, section 8 of the Credit Institutions Act, a credit institution shall have a risk supervisory function, a function supervising compliance with the regulations and internal principles, internal audit and other necessary supervisory functions independent of the activities of a credit institution. The task of the risk supervisory function is to identify, measure and report the material risks of the credit institution to the board of directors. The supervisory function shall actively participate in the preparation of a risk

strategy and in the making of all essential decisions concerning risk management as well as ensure that the board of directors is given a comprehensive view of the risks affecting the credit institution. The persons employed in supervisory functions must be independent of the business units under their supervision.





GUIDELINE (paragraph 6)

(6) The FIN-FSA recommends that executive management, as a minimum requirement, see to it that:

- the supervised entity's credit granting activities conform to the adopted strategy and policy
- the supervised entity's personnel have adequate expertise to implement the adopted strategy
- the policies are communicated throughout the organisation and implemented in an agreed order
- written operating and credit granting instructions exist and are updated when required by internal or external circumstances
- approval and control authorisations have been duly designated
- there is adequate and regular training available on credit granting in order to maintain professional competence
- internal control responsibilities and methods have been defined
- independent assessment of credit granting and risk management has been organised
- the supervised entity follows responsible conduct in credit granting
- there are no inducements that cause a conflict of interest between credit granting and credit quality
- (7) Chapter 15, section 12a of the Credit Institutions Act provides on professional requirements that persons employed by a credit institution and otherwise acting on behalf of a credit institution and participating in the granting of credit belonging to the scope of chapter 7a of the Consumer Protection Act must have adequate knowledge of credit operations. Also persons with abovementioned personnel under their direct management and supervision must have comparable knowledge and competence. In accordance with Decree 1031/2016 of the Council of State, the personnel must have such knowledge that is necessary with a view to his or her position in lending, credit intermediation or the provision of advisory service. Competence and knowledge must be demonstrated by an applicable diploma, degree, training or competency test and work experience in a comparable position, and they must be maintained up to date. Until 21 March 2019, the competence and knowledge referred to in section 2 of the Decree may also be demonstrated solely by applicable work experience in a comparable work experience in a comparable work experience in a comparable position.

GUIDELINE (paragraph 8)

- (8) The provisions above in paragraph (7) on general professional requirements also apply to persons employed by a credit institution and participating in the granting of other credits than housing loans, however, taking the nature and scope of the activity and the person's position into account.
- In accordance with chapter 7a, section 10 of the Consumer Protection Act, in preparing and applying its policies on remuneration of personnel responsible for the assessment of consumers' creditworthiness, lenders must ensure that the policies prevent the emergence of



Issued Valid from 5.3.2018 1.7.2019 until further notice



12 (23)

conflicts of interests. In particular, it is required that the amount of remuneration of the personnel is not dependent on the number and share of approved credit applications. The policies must promote appropriate and effective risk management and they must not encourage risk taking in excess of the risk level acceptable for the lender.

GUIDELINE (paragraph 10)

- (10) The FIN-FSA recommends that the provisions on remuneration in paragraph (9) be also applied to persons employed by the credit institution participating in the granting of other credits than housing loans.
- (11) On 26 September 2017, EBA issued Guidelines on Internal Governance. The Guidelines discuss among other things the organisation of activities, risk management and the role of management therein, the introduction of new products, independent risk control and its roles and tasks in risk management, the duties of the persons responsible for risk management (Chief Risk Officer, CRO) as well as internal control and its organisation.
- (12) In accordance with Article 16(3) of the EBA Regulation (1093/2010), supervised entities shall make every effort to comply with the EBA Guidelines referred to in paragraph (11).

4.3 Credit granting principles and credit granting process

(13) This section 4.3 provides regulations and guidelines on general credit granting principles and processes and those applicable to corporate and consumer lending, from the perspective of credit risk management. Chapter 7 of the Consumer Protection Act provides on consumer credit, and chapter 7a provides on consumer credit pertaining to housing property from the perspective of customer protection.

4.3.1 Credit analysis

- (14) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(1) of the Credit Institutions Act, the granting of credit shall be based on sound and well-defined criteria.
- (15) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on counterparty risk referred to in section 10.

REGULATION (paragraphs 16-25)

- (16) Credit decisions by a supervised entity shall be based on a credit analysis. The credit analysis shall give a sufficiently accurate picture of the borrower applying for credit, the borrower's creditworthiness and of the project to be financed.
- (17) In the assessment of creditworthiness, the supervised entity must comply with chapter 7a, section 10 of the Consumer Protection Act also with respect to other borrowers than consumers. The assessment must be made with respect to both new credits, renewed credits and changes of credit terms and conditions. The information and documents needed as background for the decision must be listed.



Issued	5.3.2018
Valid from	1.7.2019 until further notice



- (18) In considering the granting of credit, supervised entities must study thoroughly enough the capacity of the applicant to meet its obligations. To analyse the financial status and creditworthiness, sufficient information must be obtained about the customer. Corporate customers' financial statements information and personal customers' income and expense information as well as credit register details constitute basic information likely to assist the supervised entity in making the right credit decisions. The accuracy of the information must be ascertained in an appropriate manner.
- (19) At a minimum, the following factors must be considered in the context of credit decisions:¹
 - the borrower's previous repayment performance, current repayment capacity and estimate of future repayment capacity considering all of its assets and liabilities
 - the purpose of use of the credit and the source of funds for its repayment (continuity factors must be taken into account)
 - the funding plan for the project and the proportion of the borrower's equity finance
 - collateral type, valuation, coverage and realisability
 - in case the credit is amortised on a very back-loaded repayment plan, the plan for paying the largest instalments
 - assessment of changes in economic conditions (interest rates, other factors)
 - group of connected clients², its obligations (incl. guarantee obligations) and the supervised entity's position in terms of priority, preferential rights and collateral
 - how the credit decision is consistent with the credit strategy
 - in the case of housing company loans, also the following:
 - high level of housing company loan
 - ownership concentrations
 - in the case of corporate credit, also the following:
 - assessment of the borrower's business idea, sector and position/competitiveness within the sector
 - assessment of the competence and expertise of company management
 - ownership structure of the company and its influence in the potential event of equity recapitalisation
 - (Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)
- (20) In order to assess credit risk, supervised entities must take into account the matters listed in chapter 4.2.2, paragraph (36) of the EBA Guidelines on credit risk management practices and accounting for expected credit losses to the extent that they were not taken into account under paragraph (19).

¹ In applying this regulation, supervised entities may take into account the quality, scope and diversity of their operations and the estimated credit risk related to the customer as well as any other comparable matters in considering how to implement the regulation in an appropriate and effective manner. ² Counterparties must be combined into groups of connected clients if there is a group relationship or another direct or indirect control relationship between them, for example through a common owner or management, dependence caused by mutual business relationships, which cannot be unwound rapidly and due to which one counterparty's financial difficulties may also cause repayment difficulties to other counterparties belonging to the same group of connected clients.



Issued	5.3.2018
Valid from	1.7.2019 until further notice



- 14 (23)
- (21) In their credit decisions, supervised entities must to assess the risks against expected return both in pricing individual credits and in making an overall assessment of their customer relationships. Supervised entities must emphasise the independent profitability of lending relative to credit risks. In keeping with their risk-related goals, supervised entities shall take into consideration potential future macroeconomic changes and their effects on borrowers and contract parties.
- (22) Supervised entities must be able to demonstrate that they consider inherent risks appropriately in accordance with chapter 4.2.2, paragraph (40) of the guidelines referred to above in paragraph (20) in pricing credit contracts.
- (23) Supervised entities must comply with the provisions on the assessment of creditworthiness and on granting credit laid down in chapter 7, section 16a (2) of the Consumer Protection Act also with respect to non-consumer credit.
- (24) Supervised entities must have information systems in place for the collection and updating of customer data as well as established procedures for the identification of connections between single customers, counterparties and entities related to them and the calculation of risk concentrations.
- (25) Supervised entities must have information barriers between different functions, units and departments in order to prevent sensitive customer information to spread to unauthorised personnel. These arrangements must not, however, prevent units or persons dealing with internal control, risk control or risk management from obtaining necessary data.
- (26) The ECB has provided guidance on the definition of high-leverage projects, and the risk strategy, organisation, syndication, credit analysis, credit granting process, monitoring, secondary-market activity as well as reporting and systems in such projects (Guidance on leveraged transactions).

GUIDELINE (paragraphs 27-29)

- (27) The FIN-FSA recommends that supervised entities comply with the ECB Guidance referred to in paragraph (26).
- (28) The FIN-FSA recommends that housing credit is priced so that customer income from housing credit covers the credit risk, the bank's funding costs, the bank's requirement for return on capital and other operating costs throughout the validity of the contracts. *(Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)*
- (29) The FIN-FSA recommends that supervised entities complete a calculation of available funds for all new housing loan applicants when the credit sought concerns Finnish housing assets, and that they take these calculations into consideration in the lending decision. In the calculation of available funds, the interest rate should be set at least at six percent and the maturity of the loan at no more than 25 years. The calculation of available funds should also reflect a potential increase in the financial charge for the housing company loan in the event of a rise in interest rates and the termination of any grace period for principal repayment. Furthermore, attention should be paid to the fact that it is usually not possible to have a grace period for financial charges pertaining to housing company loans. *(Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)*
- (30) EBA has issued Guidelines on Connected Clients.



Issued	5.3.2018
Valid from	1.7.2019 until further notice



(31) In accordance with Article 16(3) of the EBA Regulation (1093/2010), supervised entities shall make every effort to comply with the EBA Guidelines referred to in paragraph (30).

4.3.2 Collateral management

- (32) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(3) of the Credit Institutions Act, credit institutions shall administer and monitor credit risks on an ongoing basis through effective systems.
- (33) In accordance with section 1 of the Decree of the Council of State on the professional requirements for lenders and credit intermediaries in consumer credits related to housing, persons filing the notifications referred to in section 6(1) of the Act on intermediaries of consumer credits relating to residential immovable property must have appropriate competence commensurate with the nature and scope of the activity, as regards the credits and other services provided, finance, economy and the assessment of consumers' creditworthiness, where necessary. In addition, the person filing the notification must have appropriate knowledge among other things of the following matters: 4) valuation of residential property or other assets provided as collateral for credit. The requisite competence and knowledge must be demonstrated by an applicable diploma or degree as well as work experience, and it must be maintained up to date.
- (34) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on counterparty risk referred to in section 10.

REGULATION (paragraphs 35-40)

- (35) Credit decisions must be primarily based on the customer's creditworthiness. As a rule, credit shall not be granted if the customer lacks credit repayment potential apart from the realisation of collateral.
- (36) In exceptional financing arrangements where the repayment of credit is based on the realisation of collateral, the supervised entity shall monitor the return and market value performance of the collateral in order to ascertain that the repayment is guaranteed.
- (37) Supervised entities must have documented procedures and guidelines for:
 - accepting different types of collateral
 - regularly monitoring and assessing collateral values³
 - collateral valuation (hair-cut)
 - ensuring that collateral is binding, adequate and realisable
 - identifying any concentrations of risk arising from collateral.
- (38) Supervised entities must establish acceptable types of collateral as well as collateral valuation percentages for each type of acceptable collateral. The valuation percentages shall be consistent with a prudential maximum limit for the relevant types of collateral. However,

³ EBA has published an interpretation guideline (2017_3078) on the determination of fair value under Article 208(3)(b) and Article 229(1) of the EU CRR (575/2013). According to the interpretation guideline, Article 208(3)(b) CRR does not allow the use of a statistical model as the sole means of valuation of collateral. The same applies to Article 229(1) CRR.





collateral value must always be based on a case-specific assessment, and special attention should be paid on collateral whose fair value cannot be considered stable.

- (39) The valuer of collateral must be competent and adequately independent of the granting of credit. Supervised entities must comply with the provisions in section 1 of Decree 1031/2016 of the Council of State on the professional requirements for a valuer of residential property or collateral for credit in consumer credit related to housing, also with respect to the valuer of collateral for other credit.
- (40) Supervised entities must ensure that the valuation of acceptable collateral is based on reliable appraisal methods, taking internationally recognised valuation standards into account.

4.3.3 Credit granting process

- (41) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(1) of the Credit Institutions Act, principles and procedures concerning the processes for approving, amending, renewing, and re-financing credits shall be clearly established and documented.
- (42) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on counterparty risk referred to in section 10.

REGULATION (paragraphs 43-60)

- (43) Credit decisions shall be made in accordance with written instructions approved by the executive management. There shall be a clear audit trail documenting the whole process, from credit application to credit decision, and it shall be approved by the appropriate level of management. The credit decision or documents appended thereto shall give a detailed account of the contents and date of the decision, the grounds for granting or turning down the application and the decision makers. The entire credit granting process must be verifiable after the event.
- (44) The tasks and responsibilities of persons involved in the granting of credit must be defined in credit granting instructions. The instructions shall also specify who has the authority to grant credit and the limit of the authority. Only authorised persons or decision-making units may make credit decisions.
- (45) As a rule, the preparation of a credit proposal and the credit decision must be separated. However, the proposal may be exceptionally prepared and decision made by a single person within his or her credit granting authority, where minor and low-risk credit decisions are concerned, and the decision making is supported by an assessment of creditworthiness that is independent of the decision maker.
- (46) Credit may be disbursed to the customer when the customer has submitted to the supervised entity all the necessary documents, and their consistency with the decision has been ensured reliably and independently.
- (47) Credit documents must be retained at least until the credit has been repaid.
- (48) Supervised entities must have common processes, systems and tools in accordance with chapter 4.2.7 of the EBA Guidelines (EBA/GL/2017/06).





Credits to closely associated persons

- (49) All decision concerning the granting of credit and all changes of terms and conditions of credit must be made on an arm's-length basis. All credit or comparable finance to related individuals, companies or foundations must be extended on the same terms and conditions as to nonrelated borrowers. Senior management shall adopt general terms and conditions for credit to closely associated persons and all decisions concerning credit to closely associated persons.
- (50) Supervised entities must ensure that credit is not extended to closely associated persons at terms and conditions that could jeopardise the supervised entity's financial status or otherwise the confidence in its operations.

Automated credit granting process

- (51) Where a supervised entity has automated part of the credit-granting process, it must ensure that the automated process is compliant with the provisions on the management of credit risk.
- (52) Where a supervised entity has outsourced part of the credit-granting process, it must ensure that the outsourced process is compliant with the provisions on outsourcing. The supervised entity remains responsible for any outsourced activity.
- (53) Where a supervised entity has automated part of the credit-granting process, it must state the credit products and target groups in the lending guidelines and state in which respects these fall within the scope of the automated credit process. The higher the rate of automation, the smaller and less-risky the credit must be.
- (54) Where a supervised entity's credit analysis has been automated, the document describing the activity must state in detail all factors analysed, the sources used, content of the analysis and automatic checks.
- (55) Where the preparation of credit proposals and or decision proposals by a supervised entity have been automated, the document describing the activity must state in detail the rules, criteria, contents, proposal alternatives and automatic checks pertaining to the proposal.
- (56) Where a supervised entity has automated the credit-decision making, it must state in the creditgranting guidelines the prerequisites that must be met in order for the decision to be made automatically. The supervised entity must determine maximum limits for credit amount and risk. Where necessary, other limits must be set.
 - Supervised entities must see that automatic credit granting is updated where necessary and regularly enough in order to ensure the regulatory compliance and timeliness in other respects of the decision making.
 - The credit-granting guidelines of a supervised entity must document who has authority to decide on updates to automatic credit granting. Decisions and updates must be documented.
- (57) Where a supervised entity has automated part of the credit-granting process but has not automated credit-decision making or the credit decision is not made automatically since the specified prerequisites are not met, the credit-granting guidelines of the supervised entity must state who has credit-granting authority with respect to automated credits. In addition, the guidelines must describe which checks must be performed by the person making the credit





decision before making the decision and the procedure related to each decision proposal. The justifications of the proposal and the underlying analysis must be made available to the person making the credit decision.

- (58) As regards the automated credit process, supervised entities must ensure that the activity is monitored continuously and there are adequate audits on the activity.
- (59) Supervised entities must have a system preventing the granting of credit to customers where such granting would lead to an overrun of the maximum credit amounts referred to in paragraph (56).
- (60) Supervised entities must ensure that all such matters pertaining to the granting of credit and credit documentation that must be retained pursuant to regulations are saved, where credits granted through the automated credit process are concerned.

4.4 Measurement of credit risk and the management information systems

- (61) In accordance with chapter 9, section 9(1) of the Credit Institutions Act, credit institutions shall have sufficient internal methodologies for the assessment of the credit and counterparty risks with regard to the nature, scope and diversity of the activities of a credit institution. The internal methodologies shall not rely solely or mechanically on external credit ratings concerning the counterparty or financial instrument.
- (62) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on the credit risk assessment methods referred to in section 9(1) and (2).

REGULATION (paragraphs 63-69)

- (63) The measurement of credit risk shall take account of the specific nature of the claims, their contract terms, the existence of collateral, the probability of payment default and possible market movements affecting the value of the claims.
- (64) Supervised entities must, regardless of whether they use internal models in the calculation of capital requirements for credit risk, assess and monitor the quality of their credit portfolios by a risk rating system which takes the creditworthiness of the customers into account.
- (65) The risk rating system shall hold so many categories that it can separate both different credit risks in well-managed credits and credit risks in doubtful credits.
- (66) The risk rating system shall reflect changes in the credit risks. Deterioration of a customer's payment capacity shall lead to an adjustment of its risk rating and a thorough review of its credits. Weaker customers must be included in more active monitoring.
- (67) A function that is independent of the credit granting shall be responsible for making the rating decisions. This independent function shall also regularly ensure that the rating reflects the actual, prevailing conditions.
- (68) Supervised entities must have information systems and analytical techniques that provide the senior and executive management with adequate reliable, detailed and timely information on the composition of the credit portfolio, including identification of any concentrations of risk.





(69) Supervised entities must have a credit risk rating process in accordance with chapter 4.3.2, paragraphs (42–48) of the EBA Guidelines on credit institutions' credit risk management practices and accounting for expected credit losses.

4.5 Mitigation of credit risk

- (70) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(3) of the Credit Institutions Act, credit receivables have to be kept adequately diversified in accordance with the target market of the credit institution and the credit-granting strategy approved by the board of directors of the credit institution.
- (71) In accordance with chapter 9, section 12 of the Credit Institutions Act, credit institutions shall prepare for the realisation of the risk arising from the concentration of risks. They shall have, for example, documented policies and procedures concerning the matter.
- (72) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on credit and counterparty risk referred to in section 10.

REGULATION (paragraphs 73-75)

- (73) The senior management must ensure that credit granting activities and other activities causing credit risk are adequately diversified. For this purpose, the claims and groups of claims that are significant from the viewpoint of risk management and therefore require exposure limits must be defined in order to diversify risks. Limits must be established at least for exposures to specific products, certain counterparties, particular industries or economic sectors, individual foreign countries or groups of countries. The utilisation rate of the limits set must be monitored continuously.
- (74) Supervised entities must also identify such indirect risk concentrations that may arise in situations where the performance of different business lines react in the same way to external, primarily macroeconomic factors.
- (75) If the avoidance of certain risk concentrations is difficult or the concentrations are justifiable from a business point of view, the increased credit risk thus arising shall be considered in the pricing and calculation of capital adequacy.

4.6 Ongoing monitoring of credit risks

4.6.1 Credit management

- (76) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(3) of the Credit Institutions Act, credit institutions shall administer and monitor credit risks on an ongoing basis through effective systems.
- (77) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on credit and counterparty risk referred to in section 10.



Issued	5.3.2018
Valid from	1.7.2019 until further notion



REGULATION (paragraphs 78-80)

- (78) Supervised entities must have an independent function, segregated from the credit granting process, to ensure that credits are prepared and approved appropriately, and relevant documents are duly prepared. The credit documents shall include information to track the history of the credit as well as information on the decision-making process, the staff involved in the credit process and credit decision and information on the current financial status of the borrower or counterparty.
- (79) The credit management shall fulfil the following requirements:

ce

- It shall provide accurate and timely information to the management information systems utilised by the unit responsible for customers and by executive management.
- It shall ensure adequate segregation of duties and appropriate controls over back office procedures.
- It shall ensure compliance with policies and procedures established by senior management and with applicable laws and regulations.
- (80) Supervised entities must have a system preventing the granting of credit to customers where such granting would lead to an overrun of the limits or sub-limits referred to in paragraph (73).

4.6.2 Customer monitoring

- (81) In accordance with chapter 9, section 10(3) of the Credit Institutions Act, credit institutions shall have processes for identifying and managing problem credits and for making adequate impairments and loss provisions thereof.
- (82) In accordance with chapter 9, section 24 of the Credit Institutions Act, the Financial Supervisory Authority may issue further provisions on credit and counterparty risk referred to in section 10.

REGULATION (paragraphs 83-85)

- (83) Supervised entities shall establish principles for the monitoring of customers, collateral and guarantees. The principles shall describe how problem customers are identified as early as possible and the procedures for treatment of problem customers of various degree. Where special terms, or covenants, are applied in lending, the supervised entity must have processes, systems and responsible persons to conduct the requisite regular monitoring and implementation of documented measures.
- (84) In making a decision on measures or forbearances, the supervised entity must consider the borrower's financial position and current capacity to repay the credit.
- (85) The supervised entity shall appoint the persons that are to be responsible for the monitoring of credits and collateral. These persons shall ensure that the persons responsible for the internal risk rating are immediately provided with information on changes customers' financial position as well as the timely information needed to update the ratings.
- (86) In March 2017, the ECB issued guidance to banks on the treatment of non-performing assets and addendum to the Guidance.



Issued	5.3.2018
Valid from	1.7.2019 until further notice



GUIDELINE (paragraph 87)

- (87) The FIN-FSA recommends that supervised entities comply with the ECB Guidance and addendum referred to in paragraph (84).
- (88) On 12 May 2017, EBA issued Guidelines on credit institutions' credit risk management practices and accounting for expected credit losses.
- (89) In accordance with Article 16(3) of the EBA Regulation (1093/2010), supervised entities shall make every effort to comply with the EBA Guidelines referred to in paragraph (86). Part of the EBA Guidelines is, however, laid down as binding regulations in this set of regulations and guidelines.
- (90) On 30 October 2018, the EBA issued Guidelines pursuant to Article 16 of Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council on management of non-performing and forborne exposures (EBA/GL/2018/06). *(Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)*
- (91) In accordance with paragraph 189 of the Guidelines referred to in paragraph (90), competent authorities should define a common threshold for the individual valuation and revaluation of the collaterals used for NPEs by an independent appraiser. This threshold should be applicable to all credit institutions in the authority's jurisdiction and should be publicly disclosed. Non-performing exposures falling below this threshold do not require an independent appraisal. *(Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)*

GUIDELINE (paragraphs 92-93)

- (92) The FIN-FSA recommends that entities belonging to the scope of application of these regulation and guidelines comply with the EBA Guidelines referred to in paragraph (90), which is available at https://www.finanssivalvonta.fi/en/. (Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)
- (93) The FIN-FSA recommends that the threshold referred to in paragraph (91) be set at €300,000. (Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)

4.6.3 Stress testing

(94) On 26 August 2010, CEBS issued Guidelines on Stress Testing. The Guidelines discuss the administration and infrastructure of stress tests and stress tests in general as a risk management tool.

GUIDELINE (paragraph 95)

(95) The FIN-FSA recommends that supervised entities comply with the Guidelines referred to in paragraph (88) as regards the management of credit risk (Section 1–7, Annex 3).



5

Issued5.3.2018Valid from1.7.2019 until further notice



22 (23)

Repealed regulations and guidelines

Upon entry into force, these regulations and guidelines shall replace the following FIN-FSA standard:

• Standard 4.4a, Management of credit risk, issued by the Financial Supervision Authority





23 (23)

6 **Revision history**

These regulations and guidelines have been amended after their entry into force as follows:

(Issued on 23.1.2020, valid from 10.2.2020)

- chapter 2.5 revised
- chapter 4.3.1, paragraph 19 complemented and paragraphs 28 and 29 introduced, leading to the renumbering of subsequent paragraphs of the chapter.
- paragraphs 90, 91, 92 and 93 added to chapter 4.6.2

The revisions are related to the incorporation of the EBA Guidelines of 30 October 2018 on the management of non-performing and forborne exposures to the regulations and guidelines. In addition, as applicable and subject to requisite additions and revisions, the contents of the letter "To banks operating in Finland 30 October 2010: Safeguarding banks' long-term profitability and customer protection" and the supervision release "20/2010 - 8 June 2010: Supervisory release of household housing finance" have been added. Finally, lending practices related to housing company loans have been clarified.

